


The Early Owners of Chale Abbey 

                                            By Sharon  Champion                   

                       The Isle of Wight at the time of the Conquest.

.When William the Bastard of Normandy conquered England in 1066 and was crowned King in Westminster Abbey on Christmas Day of that same year, he must have realised that much of his success was due to the loyalty and the careful planning of his advisors, among them many noble Lords and relatives, who had been the architects of this success. He was generous in his rewards to these Norman noblemen, among them his cousin, William Fitz-Osbern, Seneschal of Normandy and his Marshal at the Battle of Hastings. Fitz-Osbern's father, Osbern of Crepon, frequently called ‘Osbern the Steward’, had been Williams’ guardian in his boyhood until treacherously murdered in 1040 whilst protecting his charge. His son seems to have taken over his fathers’ role in the ducal household as well as inheriting his fathers’ considerable estates. He thus became like his father before him, the most important official in the retinue of the man who was to become King of England, as well as being descended himself on both sides from the ducal house, (see Genealogical table opposite).  

         After the Conquest, William Fitz-Osbern was created Earl of Hereford and it is probable that he received the grant of the Isle of Wight at around the same time. There is evidence to suggest that he was Earl before King William left for Normandy in 1067, 1 although the Chroniclers do not agree.2  It is not recorded when he first visited his Island acquisition and so we can only conjecture as to his treatment of his new tenants by the references to his character that have survived. William Fitz-Osbern emerges from the dark pages of history as a powerful and good man who was well able to bring order and improvement to his vast estates, “that he was a man of great means, yet of a heart greater, and hand larger than any means would well suffice” however, “his profuse liberalities to men of arms gave often sharp offence to the King, who could not endure any such improvident expenses”. 3  The usual portrayal of the cruel and ruthless Norman lord may therefore be unjustified in Fitz-Osbern’s case, at least as far as the Isle of Wight was concerned.

Powerful and as close to the King as he was, Fitz-Osbern must surely have found time to visit his Isle of Wight. He received the Island with "palatine powers", which enabled the Lord to act as if he were invested with royal power himself, giving him control over rights, demesnes and laws.4 As such, he established the Knighten Court .(see Appendix 1) Within probably the first two years he had founded and endowed the Priory of Carisbrook and conferred this to the Abbey of Lyre, 5, and it is reasonable to suppose that he took steps to strengthen the nearby Castle to comply with the system of Norman defence. At around this time he endowed six Island churches on the Abbey of Lyre in Normandy.6 At Watchingwell, which was held by St. Mary of Wilton, Fitz-Osbern payed some attention to the pleasures of hunting, by reducing the tax on the land there, because half a hide is described as being “in the park of the King”. This mention of a park is important as it pre-dates the creation of the park at Woodstock in 1199, generally supposed to be the first.7

        When King William left England for his Norman estates in 1067, he entrusted his Kingdom to his co-regents, his half-brother Odo, Bishop of Bayeux now also Earl of Kent, and William Fitz-Osbern. Odo was given responsibility for the Southern parts of the realm, while Fitz-Osbern was to look after the North. It is obvious that Fitz-Osbern’s presence on the Isle of Wight was short-lived for on the Kings’ return to England on December 6th 1067 he doubtless accompanied his royal master in taking arms to quell risings in the North, and takes the credit for suppressing the Welsh Marches as well as generally keeping the King on his throne. “By his advice William was encouraged to invade England, and by his valour was assisted to preserve it” .8

         William Fitz-Osbern’s wife, Adeliza, daughter of Roger de Toeni, had died in the year of the Conquest and had been buried at the Abbey of Lyre. In 1070 he married again. Queen Matilda’s brother, BaldwinV1 of Flanders, died, leaving his widow, Richildis, as Regent to their son, Ernaulph of Flanders and her son from her previous marriage, Baldwin of Hainault. She faced great opposition and appealed for help. It will never be known whether the great Fitz-Osbern married for love or politics, but he left England for Flanders with only ten men to support his stepson’s cause. On Septugesima Sunday, February 22nd 1070 he met the opposing army of Robert Le Frison, brother of Baldwin VI, and Ernaulph’s uncle, near Cassell and was slain along with his new stepson.  He was buried at the Abbey of Cormeilles, which he had founded in 1060. Thus died the first great Lord of the Isle of Wight

        William Fitz-Osbern left at least three sons and two daughters by his first wife, Adeliza. His daughter, Adeliza, was thought by historians for many years to have later been the wife of Richard de Redvers Earl of Devon and a later Lord of the Isle of Wight but it can now be shown that this was not so. 9. Another daughter, Hawyse, married William of Rumara, son and heir of William de Rumara, Earl of Lincoln. 10. His eldest son, William, succeeded to his father’s Norman estates, while the second son, Ralph, became a monk at Cormeilles. His youngest son Roger of Breteuil, became Earl of Hereford after his father’s death, and also received the Isle of Wight, but held his Lordship for as short a period as his father. He became the guardian of his youngest sister, Emma, a task that led to his downfall in 1075. He arranged Emma’s’ marriage to Raulf de Gael, Count of Norfolk, against the expressed wishes of the King and then insulted the King at the marriage-feast, either from arrogance or too much wine. Despite their kinship and the fact that Earl Roger was the son of the mighty Fitz-Osbern, his lands were seized and the Lordship of the Isle of Wight reverted to the Crown. Having insulted the King further, he remained in prison for the rest of his life, and his two young sons never inherited the great wealth of their illustrious grandfather.
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9. Hillier. G, p.67.. Hillier reprints part of an original document from the Chartulary of Lodres n.5, p 4-5.
which clearly shows Adeliza de Redvers to have been the daughter of William Peverel of Nottingham and Adeline, his wife. Percy Stone in his Architectectural Antiquities of the Isle of Wight 1891., Vol I , Pref.  Chapt , Note C, p. 92. also mentions this alliance, and states that William Peverel was a son, presumably illegitimate, of William the Conqueror, but gives no source. I have not yet made any attempt to verify this, but if true, Richard de Redvers’ subsequent favour with Henry I becomes more explainable because of the ties of kinship, rather than reward for services rendered. If one follows this line of conjecture, Richard de Redvers would be grandson-in-law to the Conqueror and his wife, niece to Henry I. Also in Stone’s Prefatory Chapter, Note A, the author reproduces part of a Latin document (Ex registro evidentiarum monasterij de Caresbroc in insula vecta. Lansdowne MS. Cclix. 35. Fol. 73b) which claims that Richard de Redvers obtained his honours by right of inheritance, a fact that Stone claims to be untrue.

10 .We can be indebted to this Lady for in a later Charter she supplies us with the names and her relationship to most of her family. Cartulary of Christchurch Twynham. It may be interesting to note that in this same Charter, Hawyse is found holding the land of "Chyveton" (Shorwell) from part of her dowry from her brother Baldwin. This land, if it is the same, was earlier held by William Fitz-Stur, and therefore may provide another geneaological link between the great families.

.
  [image: image1.png]





       The seal of Carisbrooke Priory.

                                                                  Chapter II.

                                                    The Land of William Fitz-Stur.

During his rule of the Isle of Wight, William Fitz-Osbern had bestowed certain lands in the Island to his followers, among them the Fitz-Sturs, and it is here that we can begin to trace the story of the Manor of Chale. Among the twenty-one manors given to William Fitz-Stur were the Manors of Chale and Gotten. Also among this donation from William Fitz-Osbern were included all the pre-conquest lands of Godric, Chetel, Bolla and Tovi.  It seems that he had more time to spend on the management of his acquisitions than his benefactor, and by the time of Domesday had doubled the worth of his holding at Chale. William Fitz-Osbern's baker had his bake house at Cheverton, (Shorwell) on a manor of William Fitz-Stur in 1086.1 There had been much bloodshed in the Islands history and the population had frequently been put the sword during previous invasions, but there is little evidence to suggest that they had offered any resistance to their new Norman lords. There is certainly no record of any Islanders suffering as in other areas of the kingdom where massacres were brought about due to Saxon resistance. 

     
 The population of the Isle of Wight at this time seems to have numbered about 6,000 to 7,000. Although the Domesday Book was written in 1086, twenty years after the Conquest, it is supposed that little had changed until the time of it’s compilation. As can be seen from Domesday; I0W 6;                                                                                                                                                                                                                 `     
       1    “ William son of Stur holds CHALE from the King in lordship.

                            Ketel was there jointly. Then it answered for 1 hide; now

                            for 1 virgate. Land for 1 plough; it is there with

                                 4 smallholders who have 1 plough.

                                 4 slaves; meadow, 1 acre.

                            Value before 1066 and now 40s; when acquired 20s.

                       2      William also holds GOTTEN. Browning and his brother held it

                            jointly. Then and now it answered for 1 hide. Land for 1 plough.

                            It is there, with

                                2 smallholders.

                                Meadow, 3 acres.

                            The value is and was 20s. “

The name of Fitz-Stur occurs on many documents during this period in Island history.2 It would seem that they came to England at the time of the Conquest in the train of William Fitz-Osbern and probably came from the Cotentin peninsula, possibly from Tourlaville. It is interesting to note that several other Normans rewarded with land in the Isle of Wight also came from this area in Normandy, among them the Oglanders at Nunwell, the de Barnevilles of Chale, and the later de Redvers family, who came from the area adjacent to Crepon from where William Fitz-Osberns’ family had originated. So it seems that most of the landowners on the Island at this time were on friendly terms and continued to form work closely together, and form marriages between their children.

      
William Fitz-Stur at the time of Domesday was the sixth principal landowner on the Isle of Wight, after the King, the Bishop of Winchester, the Church of St. Nicholas, the Abbey of Lyre, and the Abbey of Wilton. He had four known sons and one daughter who married Hugh Gernon, receiving the manors of Chale and Gotten as her marriage dowry. It is impossible to ascertain whether a dwelling at Chale existed prior to this transfer by marriage, but if this were so, it is likely that it would have been a wooden structure. There is a clearly visible projecting piece of stone at ground level on the southwest corner of the original Long Hall that may have supported such a structure at an earlier date. 

1. Cahill. N.J., The Conquests and Colonisation of the Isle of Wight. 1979/80. IOWCRO.

2. Whitehead, Dr J.L. Genealogical and other notes relating to the De Estur family of the Isle of Wight. Hants Field Club and Archaeological Society. 1909.  
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                           The seal of Baldwin de Redvers, 2nd Earl of Devon, attached to a charter of  1126.



                              From The Western Antiquary. No 5 October 1887. 

.                                                            

                                                                                                          Chapter III

                                                     The First House. 

Hugh Gernon’s parentage is obscure and further study is contemplated by the author, but it is Hugh Gernon who may have been the first to build his house at Chale, because although the earliest part of the present house is attributed to John de Langford in the early part of the 14th century, there is some historical evidence to suggest that Hugh Gernon lived in the area and it would be a suitable site. 

Gernon had the church of St. Andrew built at Chale between 1111 and 1113 and it was consecrated by the Bishop of Winchester, William Gifford, on December 1st 1114. Trouble arose on the day of dedication when the parson of the church of St. Mary of Carisbrook claimed that the new church belonged to his parish and that the people of Chale should attend the church of St. Mary and should also bury their dead in its’ cemetery. Hugh Gernon argued that his tenants were free to attend whichever church they wished and bury their dead wherever they wanted. The parson of Carisbrook would seem to have been a stubborn man, as Hugh Gernon eventually agreed to pay the church of St. Mary a portion of the monies gained from glebe land, tithes and burials, “excepta propria domo sua”, excepting those of his own house.  From the day of dedication then, the parishioners of Chale were free to worship and be buried in their own church by the parson of Chale, and the text of the original document would support the theory of Hugh Gernon’s dwelling at Chale. 

In the yeere of the incarnation of or  Lord 1114, the first daie of Decebr, there was a composition made in the Ile of Wight betweene the church of St. Marie of Carisbrooke and Alwietus, priest of the same churche, and the church of St Andrew, of Chale, and Hughe Gernon, the founder of the same churche. In the presence of Will m Gifford, Bishop of Winchester, who at the same daie consecrated the foresaid churche of Chale, at wh consecration this agremt  was cleerlie confirmed before manie witnesses. Alwietus the priest cauilled yt the churche of Chale was of the parishe Churche of St Marie of Carisbrooke. And Hughe Gernon said yt neither the churche of Carisbrooke nor anie other place had anie title to the men of his fee, but while they lived they might by auncient custome goe to what churche they would and burie the bodies of their dead wheresoeverthey would ; this he said they could doe and haue done. But Alwietus denied this, and offered to bringe further proofe for confirmation of his cauill. But least anie hurt should turne to either of the Churches, and yt peace and loue might be confirmed betwene them and theire friends, throughe the consideration of bothe theire friends and by the grante and confirmation of the Bishop, this agremt was made Hughe Gernon hath granted unto the Churche of St Marie of Carisbrooke the whole halfe of his landes, tithes, burialls and offrings, except his owne house wh they haue left to the Churche of Chale, whether they be men dwellinge in the fee of the said Hughe or whosoever ells. And bothe for the service and maintenance, defence and reparacon of the churche there remayninge wtout anie p’ticipation the land wherewt the said Hughe hathe indowed the churche, and the tithe of his p’per arrable lande and, as aforesaide, the offrings of his owne house. And the priest of Chale shall doe the whole service of the churche bothe for the livinge and for the deade in bookes and vestiments, in defence and reparacons, yea thoughe it should fall downe to the grounde. And he shall doe all this wtout the ayed or demaunding help of the priest of Carisbrooke, and upon this agremt Alwietus the priest hathe granted a pourche to be made at the Churche of Chale. This agremt the Bishop hathe approved by the testimony of his owne seale, and hathe confirmed under a perpetuall curse yt whosoevershall willinglie violate this agrement let him be accursed. -- 1 

According to the original Charter the witnesses were; “ Richerio capellano episcopi et decano, Stephano clerico, Rogero de Melaford, Radulfo Mansello. This may give some idea of the name of the first parson of Chale.

      
Like the Fitz-Sturs, Hugh Gernon’s name appears as a witness on several important documents during this period.  He was a benefactor of the Priory of St. Cross at Newport, founded c. 1120, which belonged to the Abbey of Tiron, in Chartres, 2 and gave the land of ‘Escandeflot’ for the building of Quarr Abbey, in 1132-1141. His signature appears on the Foundation Charter of the latter, dated c1141.3 Hugh Gernon has variously been described as the nephew of Baldwin de Redvers, and also as the "brother" of Guarinus de Halla and Brienus de Insula 4 whose names also appear on the Foundation Charter of Quarr Abbey. The word "brother" may mean no more than a brother-in-arms. There is, however, some suggestion that Hugh Gernon may have been of the De Insula family, as the gift of land that he gave on which to build Quarr Abbey was in Wootton, which at that time was almost solely owned by the De Insulas.

Specific dates in the life of Hugh Gernon have not yet been forthcoming except for these documents, but it was probably he who added the Manor Chapel to the Church of St. Andrew at Chale. It has been said that the later Priors’ Chapel was added in c. 1180, so it would have been before then.

It can be said without doubt that Hugh Gernon was a figure of some importance on the Isle of Wight at this time. He was Sheriff of the Isle of Wight in the reign of Henry I and was liable for the collection of Danegeld in the Island for some years prior to 1129-30 5 He was witness to several important Charters and these re-enforce the view that he was close, and probably related, to those persons who were of major importance on the Island.   

1. Cartulary of Carisbrooke Priory. Trans. by John Kuingswell, temp..Eliz.I Reproduced in Stone. P.G. The Architectural Antiquities of the Isle of Wight, Notes, A, p. 152 Published by the author. London 1891.

2. Winchester College Muniments, no. 17213. This Charter, from Carisbrooke to Tiron Abbey, France, dated June 1141x1146, confirms the foundation of the church of St. Cross, Newport, by one Robert Colaws, with the consent of his brothers, Cowerio (Warin) de Aula, Hugone Gernyn and Brieno de Insula, the same three knights who were donors of the chapel of St. Nicholas at Carisbrooke Castle.  This Charter is not apparently signed by Hugh Gernon.

3.. P.R.O. F315/301 (2)

4. As note (2) above.

5 Pipe. R. 31 Henry. I., p.41.

6. P.R.O. E.132/2/17/4v.   

                                                            Chapter IV.

                                       The de Langfords of Chale. 1293-1342.

The family of de Langford appear to have come to the Isle of Wight in the retinue of one of the early de Redvers Earls of Devon and Lords of the Isle of Wight, though the date is unknown. At the time of the Domesday survey in 1086, the manor of Monacochamptone, in the Torrington Hundred of Devon, belonged to Baldwin de Brion, an ancestor of the de Redvers. Later, in the reign of Henry III, we find this manor in the possession of the de Langford family, with whom it was passed down as part of the female inheritance to a family called de la Mare.  Richard de Langford seems to have been the first member of the family to appear as a witness to Isle of Wight documents. He witnessed a charter of Geoffrey de Insula in the reign of Henry II (1154-1189), but this does not place him at Chale.1 However, his son, another Richard, is described as obtaining certain lands at Chale, with common pasture on the down, in 1293, from Richard Barnevyle, with the consent of Adam de Barnevyle.2 By the same account, John de Langford, Chief Lord of Chale, obtained the rest of Barnevyle’s lands in Chale in 1309. This may make up the additional quarter of a fee that they held in the reign of Edward III. 3. The relationship between the Richard de Langford of 1293 and the John de Langford of 1309 is unclear, as this John has been described as being the grandson of one Roger de Langford who died in 1309), son of Roger’s son John. 4 Previous historians have not investigated as to why the latter did not succeed his father. Obviously he may have met an early death. There is one other John de Lang ford who can be traced to this particular period in time who may provide an answer to this question of inheritance by the grandson. There was a John de Langford, mentioned several times in the Wardrobe accounts of Edward I. He is described as being Usher (ostiarius) of the Wardrobe to the King, and is specifically mentioned as travelling in Edward’s household to Scotland in the frequent times of war with that country. It is known that the Isle of Wight contributed food and materials to the war and this may account for his absence from the Island. 5
The most important member of the de Langford family in the history of the manor house of Chale is John de Langford, Constable of Carisbrooke Castle , and an elected Warden of the Isle of Wight. He is credited with the ‘re-building’ of the house, though without archaeological investigation we cannot determine whether he incorporated parts of the original house or razed this to the ground and started a completely new dwelling. He is described as being Chief Lord of Chale by May 12th, 1316, 6 and may have started building his house before the previously accepted date of 1330. It seems that he did not always enjoy amicable relations with his Island contemporaries. In January 1333, a commission of oyer and terminer was issued on complaint of John de Langford that Theobald Russel, John de Kyngeston, son of John de Glamorgan and others, broke his doors and windows in his manor of Chale. 7 A few months later we find another complaint from him against Theobald Russel, Knight, John de Kyngeston, Robert Urry, Robert his son, Laurence Russel, John his brother, and many others who burned his houses. 8 It would appear that John de Langford still retained certain lands in Devon in August 1333 as he is recorded as being granted weekly markets in Devon and free warren rights both there and in Chale. 8 With the accession of Edward III, and that King’s claim to the French throne, John de Langford assumed increasing responsibility for the defences of the Isle of Wight, 9.(see Appendix II) and was appointed Constable of Carisbrooke castle in 1334 10 He remained in this post for seven years. During this time he made great improvements and additions to Carisbrooke Castle and would have spent most of his time there 11.

 It is possible that the original building of Chale was divided into two periods, the Great Hall and later, the annexe. The house, as first built by John de Langford, consisted of a Great Hall, with an undercroft. The Hall was lighted at the north end by a transom window which still remains in situ . Smaller ogee windows, in the north and south walls, gave light to the lower end. The former remain in situ and the outlines of the latter are visible on the outer wall. Recent removal of a Victorian fireplace has revealed what may well be the site of an earlier fireplace, now lined with Tudor bricks in a herringbone pattern. A doorway, apparently in it’s original position, between the Great Hall and the slightly later annexe on the first floor, is similar in style to the early 14th century, but may be later, and is described as having a head which exactly matches the original window head of the chamber over the gateway of Carisbrooke Castle. The original Great Hall had an arched roof of oak, which was replaced in 1845 by the then owner, Sir Willoughby Gordon, when it was found to have deteriorated beyond repair.12  

John de Langford began alterations to the gateway of Carisbrooke Castle  between 1335 and 1336, with the addition of two round towers, thus it may be after this date that he began his annexe at Chale. He may even have utilised the services of the stonemasons who were working on the Castle. The alterations at the Castle at this time were said by Percy Stone to have been carried out under the supervision of William de Kekenwych, the King’s surveyor. 13 However there appears to be some confusion as to the actual status of this man, as Dom S. Hockey later describes him as being the King’s serjeant-at-arms. 14 Whoever was the real overseer at the Castle would surely have been aware of the simultaneous building work being carried out both at Carisbrooke and at Chale.

John de Langford died in 1342, naming as his heir his son Thomas.15It is presumed that Sir John de Langford had had an older married son, also John, who died before his father as he is referred to in a document of 1319. 16 Of Sir John’s daughter, Joan, no further information has yet been forthcoming. It seems therefore that John de Langford saw his house built at Chale in the hope that it would provide his heirs and descendants with a manor to befit their important position in the Island, but sadly he could not have foreseen that although they retained ownership of the manor for a further hundred and fifty years, the constant threat of French invasion would drive his family away to their mainland estates.

1. Worsley, App. No. LVIII. Richard de Langford died in 1254 (Ch. Inq. p.m. 38 Henry III.)

2. Cart. penes. Rd. W. Bart.

3. Albin. J, History of the Isle of Wight 1795.

4. Whitehead,  J.L., The Undercliffe of the Isle of Wight This author reports that in 1301, Edward Ist. set out for Scotland and summoned Roger de Langford among others. It appears that they ignored this order on the grounds that they were only obliged to defend and keep Carisbrooke Castle. See also the register of John de Pontisara (1282-1304) who records Roger de Langford, Lord of Chale, as holding Chale church. Roger's possession of the manor is confirmed by his holding of it of the Countess Isabella in 1300.

5. Wardrobe Book of 28 Edward I. Published, Soc. of Antiquities 1787. John de Langford, probably the father of John de Langford of Chale. He is mentioned several times in the Wardrobe Accounts and despite his title, seems to have acted as carter and purveyor of miscellaneous goods, in attendance on the King's travelling household. in 1300, he followed the King north from Bristol, through the Midlands and the north of England to Scotland. He appears to have visited Peebles, Edinburgh, Glasgow and Lanark, as well as being present at the King's winter quarters at Linlithgow. Among the goods he purchased were wax, spices, ink, parchment almonds and pumice. Part of the Account Roll (20 Nov 1300 - 19 Nov 1301) came up for auction at Phillips in June 1971. An interlinear insertion by the scribe on this 85 - line vellum document describes John de Langford as "carier au dit Chastel as Custages .....le roi. 

Throughout this period, Edward I was constantly at war with the rebellious Scots. The Wardrobe was responsible for almost all the household expenses and it was through this that war was financed. The knights of the household were important in both peace and war, being responsible for many varied tasks. It seems that the King's travelling court was not popular with the people because the royal visitors always incurred extra expense, which the people could ill - afford, especially the supplying of food. In 1304 the royal armies were again in Scotland, and supplies of food and other materials were sent to bases at Berwick and Carlisle from as far away as the Isle of Wight. All this work in gathering together the necessary supplies was done by the members of the Wardrobe. The crown at this time had a traditional right known as prise, which entitled it to purchase food supplies compulsorily. Prise was originally intended for the use of the royal household but it was extended during the reign of Edward I to cover the whole army. Officials were sent around the country to buy goods on credit, and to organise the transportation of these goods to a further destination point from where they would be shipped to the armies' bases.

6. JER/6/11. IOWCRO.

7  Cal. Pat. R.. Edw. III, 1330 - 1334, p. 439.

8. Cal. Pat R. Edw. III, 1330 - p. 450.

9. JER/SEL/84/12. IOWCRO.

10. Abbrev. Rot. Orig. (Reg. Com), ii ,87. I originally thought that John de Langford held the post of Constable of Carisbrooke Castle until his death in 1342 but it would appear that this was not so. A charter was offered for sale by Phillips in June, 1971, in the form of a 24 - line indenture, written in French, between the King and Sir John de Langford, knight, of the Isle of Wight, dated at Westminster, 24th. May,1341. This document bears witness to the fact that Sir John "owes the King £200 of arrears for the period for which he was Constable of Carisbrooke Castle" and that he " is bound to pay to the present Constable of the Castle, a week before St. John Baptists' day, specified quantities of various kinds of corn, peas and beans, salt, bacon and salted fish, plus the wages of the garrison for two months at £20 a month and as much more in cash towards their wages as shall make up £100." 

11. The Minister' Accounts for repairs to Carisbrooke Castle, 1269 - 1353. PRO. I have not yet had the opportunity to examine these accounts. 

12. Englefield, Sir H.C. in The Beauties of the Isle of Wight 1816 relates how he saw one of the "great wooden principles" lying in a nearby meadow in 1845, but when he returned to take its' measurements, it had disappeared.

13. Stone, P.G, The Architectural Antiquities of the Isle of Wight 1891. Vol. II, p. 77. From the Exchequer Roll. 
14 Hockey, Dom S.F.. Insula Vecta. The Isle of Wight in the Middle Ages.1982. Phillimore, London.

15. Cal. Inq. p. m. 17 Edw. III.

16. Feet of Fines, Michaelmas 12, Edw. III 

                                            Chapter V.

               The de Langfords of Chale.  1342-1393

                 When Sir John de Langford died in 1342, he left his son, Thomas as his heir. His date of birth is not known, but he was later to marry Joan de la Bere, daughter of Thomas and Alice de la Bere. From later documents it would appear that she had been married before. 1 Thomas de Langford was Lieutenant to Thomas Chyke, Lord of Mottistone and became second- in- command of the Isle of Wight Militia. He played a prominent role in organising the defence of the Island and with Chyke was charged with the defence of Modeston, Newton, Caulborn and Brixton.. To this end, he signed the King’s order to William Montacute, Earl of Salisbury and at that time Lord of the Island, to put the Isle of Wight in a state of defence.

    
During 1377, writs were issued to the King’s Lieutenant, the Keeper and the Constable of Carisbrooke Castle, which forbade any inhabitant from leaving the Island 2. There must therefore have been a great deal of tension among Islanders at this time and the management of constant defence must have placed a great strain on people like Sir Thomas de Langford, whose responsibility it was. His own estates can have taken very little of his time and he probably delegated their management to either his tenants or his wife. We are unable at present to establish what changes or additions he may have made to Chale manor, or whether indeed he was actually in residence there. By March 29th. 1380, Thomas de Langford had made the decision that the ever-present threat of French invasion to the Isle of Wight was too great a burden to bear and he moved to his manor of Bradfield in Berkshire. He leased the manor of Chale to one Richard Maulday, the first tenant of whom we hear mention, for a period of seven years, certain services excepted. 3 The tenant was to pay an annual rent of 16 marks at his manor of Bradfield and could be called upon to provide a “hobler”, or horseman, whenever the King’s service required. 4

    Whether Sir Thomas de Langford ever returned to the Isle of Wight is unknown and further research will be required to establish what role he played after his move. When he died in June 1391, he held estates in Berkshire, Devon, Hampshire and Chale, Isle of Wight, which appears to have been his only Island holding. 5 It is interesting to note that at his death, Sir Thomas still held the manor of “Langgaforde” in Okehampton, Devon, the place where the story of the de Langfords began.                                              

    Sir Thomas de Langford’s wife, Joan, held the manor of Chale and the advowson of the church until her death on November 23rd, 1393, with reversion to William de Langford, their son, who was then twenty-seven years old. 6         

1. Cal. Inq. p. m. 17 Richard II. When Joan de Langford died in 1393, she held the manor of Haliwell for life, with reversion to Gilbert Estne, her son and heir, He was then thirty-two years old, five years older than her son by Sir Thomas, and was presumably the product of a previous marriage. She held this manor by her own right of inheritance, so it may be that it formed part of her original dowry or was inherited from her previous marriage, and thus passed to her eldest son.

2. The Islanders were excused from serving on any jury or being present at any inquest which would necessitate them travelling to the mainland and thus leaving the island under-defended against a possible attack from France.

3ER/WA/6/3. IOWCRO. He reserved the rights of wards, marriages, reliefs, escheats and wrecks of the sea, with the advowson of the Church of Chale.

4Worsley. Sir R. The History of the Isle of Wight.

5. Cal. Inq. p. M. 14 Richard II, 103. There seem to be two conflicting dates for the death. The Devon and Berkshire Inquisitions give the Sunday before the Nativity of John the Baptist, while the Southampton Inquisition gives Thursday, June 8th.

6. Cal. Inq. p. M. 17 Richard II.   

                                                       Chapter VI:

                                  The de Langfords of Chale. 1393-1509.

With the death of Sir Thomas de Langfords’ widow Joan in 1393, the subsequent members of the family become distanced somewhat from the history of the manor of Chale, even though they continued to own the estate for nearly another decade and a half. Although there are several documents attesting to their continued ownership, there is,as yet, no evidence to prove that they visited their Island estate.

Later planned research will hopefully be able to include the story of the tenants who lived at Chale until the estate was sold by the last de Langford heiress, Anne, and her husband, William Stafford, in the early Sixteenth century. The history of the de Langfords at Chale ends then with the death in 1509 of John de Langford and the passing of Chale to his 14 year old daughter. Their possession had lasted for over three hundred years and included the period that is of most architectural interest in the study of the house. The search goes on in the house, to establish points in its’ long history, and as more fireplaces and now window-seats emerge from beneath the great walls of Isle of Wight stone, it is hoped that further study will be possible with which, at a later date, to review this paper.

   


The Descent of the later de Langfords.

                                                  Sir Thomas de Langford. (d.1391)

                                                                        m.
                                                           Joan de la Bere. (d.1393)

                                                      Sir William de Langford. (d.1411)

                                                             Robert Langford.                                  William.

                                                                        m.

                                                                    Isabel

                                                             Edward Langford.

                                                              m. Sanctia Blount                         

Margaret ( d.1476.)                                                       
                                                                       




 m.
                                                              .Thomas Langford.                       Nicholas Carew of 








                       Bedlington  

                                                         John Langford. (d.1509)

                                                                     Anne.

                                                                        m.
                                                             William Stafford.

                                                         Chapter VII .

                                             The Later History, 1500 to 1561. 

The history of the de Langfords at Chale continues with the death of John de Langford in1509 and the inheritance of the Manor by his 9 year old daughter, Anne 1   She later married one William Stafford in 1519.2  and they sold the manor to William Pounde of Drayton in Hampshire in 1521. 3.  At this time it consisted of 10 messuages, 300 acres of land, 40 acres of meadow, 100 acres of pasture, and 2 acres of woodland. He died in 1525 and left it, in a will dated 24 October 1524, to his younger son, William Pound of Beaumonts in Farlington, who also inherited Island land at Hovingford (Blackwater) and Newport from his maternal grandfather, Thomas Troyes of Marvel, Hants.  To increase his lands at Chale William Jnr. also bought the sub-manor of Chale in 1556 from John Bullar of Lillesdon in Somerset. Two years later. William Pounde, Junior died, leaving a widow Ellen, who claimed the manor for life, 4 which was disputed by her husband’s older brother, Anthony, who is described as “having dealt with it by recovery”. 5   Nevertheless, these holdings were inherited by William’s son and heir, Thomas Pounde of Beaumonts, and it was he who sold it on 22 January 1561 to John Worsley.6 By then the manor consisted of 20 messuages, 18 gardens, 2 dovecotes 300 acres of arable land, 80 acres of meadow, 600 acres of pasture, 10 acres of wood, 300 acres of fern and brush and 30 acres of moor (Down land) £4 rent and common for 1,500 sheep. 7 

At his period the tenant farmers were John Sanders and Thomas Barrett.

‘John Sander holdeth by lease the farme called the Manor of Chaele of Thomas Pound 300 acres. 8  

Thomas Barrett occupied the manor house probably as early as 1522. He paid 6s..8d to the Lay subsidy  before dying in 1547 when his widow Julian paid 5s.4d to the lay subsidy and she died in 1555 9  William Gryme and John Fleming held it for four years with John Reynolds as their shepherd.10
1. Cal. Inq. P.M. 24 (72).

2. F.F. Hants. Trinity. 10 Henry VIII.

3. F.F. Hants. Hilary. 12 Henry VIII.

4.Chanc. Proc. [Ser. 2] bdle 139  no. 9.

5. .Recov. Roll Easter.  31 Henry VIII , rot. 100. These references were sourced from Webster, Clifford  D. The Royal Survey  of  the     Isle of Wight, 1559-60. . 

6. JOL 136.   Recov. Roll. Easter. 4 Eliz .I.

7. F.F. Hants. Easter 4 Eliz.I.

8. Card Index I.W. County Record Office. Hillside, Newport, Isle of Wight

9. Win. Wills, unclass. with inventory.

10. W.C.M. 3698.

                                                                  Chapter VIII.

                                                   The Worsleys. 1561-1809.
               For three hundred years the Worsleys were the leading family in the Isle of Wight and an account of the family on the Island gives a background to their ownership of Chale.

Appuldurcombe is not a Domesday manor because its land was in the Manor of Wroxall that belonged to Earl Godwin before the Conquest and in 1086 it was held by the King. It was given to Baldwin de Redvers, Lord of the Island in 1090 to the Abbey of Montebourg. The Abbey established a Priory there that was suppressed in 1414. The King then granted it to the Nuns Minoresses without, (the walls of the city of London), Aldgate.  

Richard Fry, who leased Appuldurcombe from the nuns of Aldgate, married Agnes, who was the daughter of the old Isle of Wight family of Hacket and when he died Agnes married Sir John Leigh, of More in Dorsetshire  In about 1498 Sir John Leigh and his wife, and her son John, ( her son by her first marriage to Richard Fry) leased Appuldurcombe Manor from the nuns.  Sir John Leigh had came to the Island and settled at Appuldurcombe in 1486 on his marriage. He was a favourite of King Henry VII who granted him a dispensation to hold the Manor, contrary to Act of Parliament. When he died in 1522, he left an only daughter, Anne who married James Worsley, the son of a Lancashire family. One of his ancestors, Sir Elias de Workesly  (From a Manor of that name near Manchester) was a Knight in the First Crusade A.D. 1096 under Robert, Duke of Normandy and he died in Rhodes. 

The Worsleys established themselves at Appuldurcombe and the family became the Lords of the Manor for the next three centuries. James Worsley (younger son of Robert Worsley of Worsley Hall,) was, in his youth, a personal page to King Henry VII, (Groom of the Robes) and later a courtier to King Henry VIII, In the Patent Roll of Henry VIII  he is called, ‘ Groom of the Wardrobe of Robes.’  The King knighted him as a reward for supporting him at  "The Field of the Cloth of Gold." in 1513.He obtained a new lease from the Priory of Appuldurcombe and in 1527, but after the Dissolution of the Monasteries, he acquired the estate and began by completing the manor house near the old Priory House. A drawing of this building shows a Tudor mansion with great hall, chapel, stables and an indoor tennis court, (later converted into a library.) while in front of the house was a bowling green.

Sir James died in 1538 and was succeeded by his son, Richard, who one year later entertained King Henry VIII and Thomas Cromwell at Appuldurcombe. The royal party came for hawking, and to discuss the defence of the Island which led Richard to be appointed ‘Captain of the Wight’ with responsibity was strengthening the defences. This he did thoroughly, introducing firearms to the Island and he was also given Cromwell’s office of  ‘Constable of Carisbrooke Castle.’

`Richard Worsley's mother, Lady Anne Leigh, also seems to have had business with the King, for it is recorded that she persuaded him to return revenues sequestrated from the Leigh Chantry in Godshill Church. With this money she founded local schools including Godshill and she died in 1566.

In 1545 there were French landings on the Island, and Richard’s defences were successful in repelling the French 

Captain Richard supported the Reformation and during the reign of Mary he resigned his post and played no part in public life until the accession of Elizabeth.  Captain Richard’s brother John, purchased Chale from William Pound in 1562 but he died in 1565, leaving a widow and two young sons.  Two years later tragedy occurred at the manor house when an explosion of gunpowder introduced by their father, killed the two boys. The monument in Godshill Church states: "beinge in ye lodge of Appuldurcombe the servants were dryinge of powder against ye general mowster, 1567, a sparkle flew into ye dische that sett fyre to a barrell that stood bye her, blew up a side of ye Gate House and killed ye two children, eight and nine years of adge.”

 
Captain Richard's brother, John, then occupied and administered the estate, and  Richard’s widow married Sir Francis Walsingham, the statesman and favourite of  Queen Elizabeth. A long dispute between Walsingham and John arose over the ownership of the estate but it passed to Walsingham.  After several conveyances it was purchased  in about 1610 by Richard Worsley, grandson of John,. from Sir Thomas Miller. Richard was knighted by King James the First in 1611 and was created a baronet later in the same year. He was appointed Captain of the Wight and was Sheriff of Hampshire in 1616 and in 1620 was M.P. for Newport. When he died in 1621, his son, Henry 1612-1666, became the second baronet. Sir Robert Worsley, Sir Henry’s son, 1643-1675 became the third baronet and it was his son, Robert 1669-1747 who became the fourth baronet in 1675.

Sir Robert Worsley, the fourth baronet, decided to pull down the Tudor mansion and the Priory buildings and "left not one stone standing." He then began to build the present mansion, a square classic structure. Sir Robert's brother the Right Honourable Henry Worsley distinguished himself in public life in many capacities. He was a barrister and a Colonel of the Guards. Later he became Governor of Barbados and Captain of the Windward Islands and then Ambassador to the Court of Portugal. He was four times M.P. for Newtown. Sir Henry died, a bachelor, in 1741, and Sir Robert had left no heirs so after his death, in 1747, the Manor passed to his cousin, Sir James Worsley of Pilewell, Hants who became the 5th baronet.

Sir James was a meticulous antiquarian and collected many details of the Island history. This work was continued by his son, Sir Thomas, the sixth baronet, and by his grandson, Sir Richard, the 7th baronet, who completed an published his "History of the Isle of Wight"1 which is today a most valuable source of information on local history. He wrote it with many of the original charters and documents before him on his desk. Sir Richard inherited the estate in 1768 and the significance of the manor increased under his tenure. He extended the mansion and used part of it as a museum to house his collection of art treasures.2. He married Seymour Fleming and had two children, a son Robert Edwin and a daughter, who both died before their father. He had an unhappy experience at law when his wife was accused of ‘ Criminal Conversation’ with a neighbour. He won the case but it was shallow victory when he was awarded miniscule damages. He retired from public life and retired to his Marine Villa in the Undercliff.  Sir Richard’s sister Henrietta Francis married John Bridgman-Simpson, later Lord Bradford, and their daughter; Henrietta Maria, married Charles Anderson Pelham who later became Earl of Yarborough.3 4.

1. Worsley, Sir Richard.The History of the Isle of Wight. 1781.

2. Worsley, Sir Richard. Museum Worsleyanum 1798 & 1824.

3. Boucher James, E. Letters Archaeological and Historical.  1896. The Worsleys of the Isle of Wight. pp. 481-490.

4. Boynton, F.O.J. Appuldurcombe House. HMSO 1967.
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